THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE APPELLATE PANEL OF THE
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2017-002396
W.C.C. File No. 1408826

Gennette Sowell,

Respondent,

v.

Piggly Wiggly,

and

Auto Owners Insurance Inc.,

Appellants.

RECEIVED

FEB 06 2018

SC Court of Appeals

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Kenya C. Miller
Kristian C. Bell
Dickie, McCamey & Chilcote, P.C.
Post Office Box 2046
Lancaster, South Carolina 29721
(803) 285-0004
Attorney for Appellants

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WHETHER THE APPELLATE PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN EVALUATING THE CLAIMANT'S OCCUPATIONAL ASTHMA AS A REPETITIVE TRAUMA INJURY UNDER SECTION 42-1-172.
2. WHETHER THE APPELLATE PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING CLAIMANT MET HER BURDEN OF PROOF UNDER SECTION 42-11-10, ET AL.
3. WHETHER THE APPELLATE PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING THE CLAIMANT PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED UNDER SECTION 42-9-10 WHEN CLAIMANT FAILED TO OFFER VOCATIONAL EVIDENCE OR PROOF OF INABILITY TO EARN WAGES DUE TO INJURY.
4. WHETHER THE APPELLATE PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN AWARDING CLAIMANT FUTURE MEDICAL TREATMENT "AS SPECIFICALLY REFERRED TO IN THE RECORDS".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter came before the Single Commissioner pursuant to the parties' Forms 50 and 51. The hearing was held before the Honorable Melody James on June 22, 2016 and July 21, 2016 in Columbia, South Carolina. Claimant, Gennette Sowell, alleged she contracted occupational asthma as a result of injury by accident, repetitive trauma and/or occupational disease while employed at Piggly Wiggly. Claimant alleged she sustained occupational asthma as well as injuries to her lungs, pulmonary system and autoimmune system as the result of her employment with Piggly Wiggly. The Claimant pled this claim as an injury by accident, repetitive trauma as well as occupational disease. (See Form 50 filed July 17, 2014; September 26, 2014; Amended November 11, 2014).

Appellants denied Claimant's allegations and the claim in its entirety. Specifically, Appellants denied that the Claimant sustained either an injury by accident, occupational disease or repetitive trauma inhalation injury resulting in asthma. Additionally, Appellants timely and properly raised the affirmative defenses of notice and the Statute of Limitations in reference to all three bases of Claimant's claim for benefits. The Defendants maintained that there is medical evidence to suggest that the Claimant's sensitivities extend to exposures beyond those found in the work place. Moreover, the Claimant failed to provide sufficient notice of her claim to the Employer and the Claimant's claim is barred by the statute of limitations.

The Single Commissioner found Claimant permanently and totally disabled by Order dated May 16, 2017. Specifically, the Single Commissioner found Claimant suffered from asthma as a result of a repetitive trauma accident during the course and scope of her employment with Piggly Wiggly. Claimant was also awarded future medical treatment "as specifically referred to in the records of [her treating physicians]".

The Appellants timely filed a Form 30 requesting a review of the Single Commissioner's Order. A hearing before the Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission was held on August 22, 2017. The Appellate Panel fully affirmed the Single Commissioner's decision by Decision and Order dated October 17, 2017.

Appellants timely filed a Notice of Appeal with this Court on November 16, 2017. This Initial Brief of the Appellants follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Claimant, was hired to work in the deli department for Piggly Wiggly in 1999, and was employed as the deli manager for approximately thirteen (13) years. (6/22/2016 Hr'g. Tr. at pp. 19-20). The Claimant maintains that her regular job responsibilities included cooking and cleaning the deli department, equipment and work areas. (6/22/16 Hr'g. Tr. at pp. 19-20). The Claimant indicated that she spent approximately 2 to 3 hours of her work day cleaning the deli area. The Claimant identified certain cleaning products she used during her employment which included "block whitener", "spit fire", Mr. Muscle", window cleaners and sanitizers. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp. 36-37). The Claimant further maintained that she was regularly exposed to grease and cooking oils, bacteria, mold, as well as commercial disinfectants, degreasers, cleaning and decontamination type products used in the industry. (Claimant's PHB at p. 2).

Furthermore, in addition to her normal and usual exposures, the Claimant alleged that in March or April, 2011, the deli department experienced an issue with the waste disposal drains, which resulted in an unpleasant smell and required her to use degreasers even more regularly in order to help prevent back-ups while her employer worked to resolve the drainage issue (Claimant's PHB at p. 2-3). More specifically, the Claimant testified that during the timeframe that the deli developed

blockage/plumbing issues the deli had a strong unpleasant smell and she was required to use Drano and bleach. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp. 30-37). The Claimant alleged that following this incident of 2011, she developed respiratory problems. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp. 38-39). Nevertheless, the Claimant did not stop working for Piggly Wiggly until nearly three (3) years later on January 6, 2014 and did not notify her employer that her condition was allegedly work-related until March 25, 2014. (Defendants APA, p. 396, First Report of Injury).

Based on the extensive medical evidence in the case, the Claimant first sought treatment for her alleged problems on June 3, 2011 from the Chesterfield General Hospital (Defendants' APA at pp. 219-224). At that time, the Claimant presented with symptoms of cough, congestion, and chest pains. (Id.) Although the Claimant indicated that her problems began approximately one week prior to this date of treatment, she reported no history of her problems being work-related. (Id.) The Claimant was provided treatment in the form of an EKG, a nebulizer, as well as prescription medications to include Prednisone, Decadron, Azithrocin, and Norco. (Defendants' APA at pp. 219-224). The Claimant sought and received subsequent medical treatment from Chesterfield General Hospital on June 11, 2011, again presenting with complaints of worsening bronchitis. (Defendants' APA at pp. 225-226). The Claimant was admitted into the hospital for three days and was treated for bronchitis with bronchospasm. (Id.) Portable chest x-rays showed no evidence of any acute cardiopulmonary disease. (Defendants' APA at p. 225).

The Claimant was then evaluated at Chesterfield General Hospital on December 23, 2011 and again presented with complaints of shortness of breath and wheezing. (Claimant's APA at pp. 173-175). At this point, the Claimant indicated that she had been exposed to strong odors such as Chloride and Ammonia at work. (Id.) The ER note states that this "probably" triggered her bronchial

asthma exacerbation. (Claimant's APA at p. 173). The ER physician indicated that the Claimant had not undergone a pulmonary function test to determine the severity of her asthma but also indicated that the Claimant worked in the cleaning business. (Claimant's APA at p. 173). The Claimant was provided with a CT scan of the chest, which failed to reveal a pulmonary embolism. (Claimant's APA at p. 174). Although the Claimant was diagnosed with a rib fracture, the EKG was normal. (Id.) Additional scans of the Claimant's chest also failed to reveal any evidence of cardio pulmonary disease. Accordingly, the Claimant was diagnosed with an acute asthma exacerbation, likely secondary to exposure to chemicals. (Claimant's APA at pp. 175-176). The Claimant was specifically advised to avoid chemical exposures as these were the triggers for her asthma exacerbation. (Claimant's APA at p. 171). Upon discharge by the hospital, the Claimant was provided with several prescription medications to include an albuterol inhaler for shortness of breath, Advair, Singulair, and Hydrochlorothiazide. (Id.) The Claimant was advised to follow up with her primary care doctor, Dr. Hammett, for subsequent treatment. (Id.)

The Claimant was also evaluated by Dr. Hammett of Carolina Physicians Group on December 6, 2011 and presented with complaints of coughing, chronic bronchitis and allergic rhinitis. (Defendants' APA at p. 256). The Claimant was diagnosed with acute chronic bronchitis and was prescribed the Claimant a nebulizer machine as well as a Z pack and Medrol dose pack. The Claimant returned to Dr. Hammett for a follow-up evaluation on December 27, 2011. (Defendants' APA at p. 258). Based on the medical report, the Claimant's symptoms occurred approximately 4 to 6 months prior to this date of treatment. Dr. Hammett indicated that the Claimant had a current diagnosis of asthma. (Defendants' APA, p. 258).

The Claimant sought treatment again from Chesterfield General Hospital on November 12, 2012 at which time the Claimant presented with complaints of shortness of breath/asthma. (Defendants' APA at p. 231). At that time the Claimant again contributed her problems to a cleaning compound, which she used at work as well as the fumes from cooking. (Defendants' APA at p. 231).

The Claimant also received medical treatment from Dr. Dayrit of Center for Lung and Sleep Medicine. Pursuant to the diagnostic report of Dr. Dayrit of December 19, 2012, the Claimant presented with complaints of shortness of breath and wheezing for the past two (2) years. (Defendants' APA at p. 304). Dr. Dayrit noted that the Claimant was exposed to cleaning chemicals at work to include the cleaners that were used. (Id.) Dr. Dayrit suggested the Claimant had sensitivity to chemicals that she was being exposed to at work. (Defendants' APA at p. 306). He further indicated there appeared to be a temporal relationship with her symptoms and further advised the Claimant that she should consider changing jobs if her wheezing continued. (Id.)

During her follow up with Dr. Dayrit on January 6, 2013, Dr. Dayrit indicated that the Claimant had not developed any exacerbations of her symptoms since returning to work. (Defendants' APA at p. 308). The Claimant was sent for a pulmonary function testing and provided Prednisone and inhalers. (Defendants' APA at p. 308). Upon review of the Claimant's pulmonary function test, Dr. Dayrit diagnosed the Claimant with extrinsic asthma in his diagnostic report of January 16, 2013. (Defendants' APA at p. 311). Pursuant to the medical note of Dr. Dayrit of February 11, 2013, Dr. Dayrit continued to assess the Claimant with asthma and allergies. (Defendants' APA at p. 314).

While treating with Dr. Dayrit, the Claimant returned to Dr. Hammett for additional treatment. Pursuant to Dr. Hammett's medical note of March 19, 2013, Dr. Hammett noted that the Claimant had a history of chronic asthma, exacerbation "that was determined to be work related and was suggested that she remove herself from the job, which she has not yet". (Defendants' APA at p. 268). Most interestingly, however, the Claimant continued to work for Piggly Wiggly for an additional ten (10) months thereafter until January 6, 2014.

That being said, the Claimant filed for Social Security Disability on December 12, 2013 while continuing to work for Piggly Wiggly. (Defendants' APA, pp. 361-367). Dr. Hammett later completed an initial disability claim form identifying the Claimant's first date of disability as December 6, 2011 (Defendants' APA at p. 368). The Claimant did not notify her employer that she contributed her respiratory problems to her employment until March 25, 2014, despite the fact that she initially developed these problems on June 3, 2011, informed the ER physician that she contributed her breathing problems to her work environment and was advised to avoid chemicals on December 23, 2011 and again on November 12, 2012, was advised to change jobs by Dr. Dayrit on January 6, 2013 if her wheezing continued, and was advised to discontinue work by Dr. Hammett in March 19, 2013 and again in November 2013. Nevertheless, the Claimant did not stop working for Piggly Wiggly until January 6, 2014 and did not notify her employer that her condition was allegedly work-related until March 25, 2014. (First Report of Injury, Defendants' APA at p. 396).

On cross-examination, the Claimant admitted that she has operated a catering business out of her home for the past 10 years. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp. 79-80). The Claimant testified that since November 2013, her daughter has primarily been running the catering business, but she indicated that she was still involved on a limited basis. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp. 79-81). More specifically,

the Claimant testified that she goes with her daughter and other family members to pick up the food at the Piggy Wiggly and sometimes accompanies them to deliver food to customers. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp. 83-84). The Claimant denied being involved in the catering business to the extent that she goes into the kitchen and cooks. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp. 84-85). With regards to her current condition, the Claimant testified that she currently experiences breathing problems on a daily basis and is unable to be around strong smells. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp.64-65). The Claimant indicated that she has no restrictions with regards to driving, but does limit herself from going to many public places. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp. 86-87). The Claimant testified that she is unable to clean her own home and indicated that her sister cleans her house at which point she either goes on the porch or leaves the home. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at p. 81).

The Claimant's two daughters also testified on her behalf. Amy Edwards is the Claimant's daughter who has allegedly taken over the Claimant's catering business. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at p. 92). Ms. Edwards testified that the Claimant gets sick from being around fresh meat and thus when the family goes to Piggly Wiggly to purchase food items for the business, the Claimant avoids the meat department. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp. 92-93). Ms. Edwards also testified that the Claimant is unable to be inside the kitchen due to the strong smells and indicated that her aunt does the Claimant's house work. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at p. 94).

On cross examination, Ms. Edwards indicated that Claimant continues to receive money from the catering business. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp. 103-105). Although Ms. Edwards tried to suggest that the money was for reimbursement for paying for the food, she could not explain why it would be necessary for her mother to do this when their customers typically pays for the food upfront. (Id.)

Ms. Edwards also testified that she was unable to confirm the cleaning products that her mother used to clean her home prior to her developing asthma. (6/22/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp. 101-102).

Dr. Robert Bennett also provided expert testimony at the hearing. Dr. Bennett was found to be duly qualified as an expert in forensic toxicology and pharmacy with an emphasis in toxicology. (7/21/2016 Hr'g Tr. at p. 52-53). Dr. Bennett testified that the materials used by the Claimant in her workplace constitute common nonindustrial household products safe for the general public. (7/21/2016 Hr'g. Tr. at p 56). He clarified that Pinesol, Bleach and Drano are compounds that have been around for decades and used essentially by tens of millions of people on a daily basis, without any significant toxicological effect. (7/21/2016 Hr'g Tr. at p 56).

Dr. Bennett further indicated that the products Mr. Muscle and Spit Fire contain the same ingredients that are available to the general public for cleaning purposes. (7/21/2016 Hr'g Tr. at p. 56). Dr. Bennett further testified that based on the Claimant's work area and the chemicals involved, the Claimant's asthma would not have been caused by her work. (7/21/2016 Hr'g Tr. at p. 64-70). Rather, Dr. Bennett indicated that the Claimant's asthma was most likely due to the Claimant's genetic predisposition to asthma due to the Claimant's IgE levels and family history. (7/21/2016 Hr'g Tr. at pp. 65-70; 105). Dr. Bennett further testified that from a toxicological standpoint, the Claimant could return to work for the Employer in a variety of capacities and functions. (7/21/2016 Hr'g Tr. at p. 75).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court may reverse or modify a decision by the Workers' Compensation Commission if the decision is not supported by substantial evidence or is affected by an error of law. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5) (Supp. 2016); Jones v. Ga.-Pac. Corp., 355 S.C. 413, 586 S.E.2d 111,

113 (2003). Substantial evidence is “not a mere scintilla of evidence nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion that [the Commission] reached or must have reached” to support its orders. Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc., 276 S.C. 130, 135, 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE APPELLATE PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN EVALUATING THE CLAIMANT’S OCCUPATIONAL ASTHMA AS A REPETITIVE TRAUMA INJURY UNDER SECTION 42-1-172.

The Appellate Panel erred in evaluating Claimant’s claim under the repetitive trauma statute versus the occupational disease statute. Under section 42-1-172 of the Act, “‘repetitive trauma injury’ means an injury which is gradual in onset and caused by the cumulative effects of repetitive traumatic events.” Alternatively, an “occupational disease” means a disease arising out of and in the course of employment that is due to hazards in excess of those ordinarily incident to employment and is peculiar to the occupation in which the employee is engaged.” S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-11-10.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has made it clear that a repetitive trauma is not an occupational disease as an occupational disease results from exposure to conditions in the workplace that originate from a source that is neither traumatic or physical versus an unforeseen injury by trauma. Pee v. AVM, Inc., 352 S.C. 167, 172-73, 573 S.E.2d 785, 788 (2002) (emphasis added). As such, the Single Commissioner’s reliance on King v. International Knife is misplaced. King v. International Knife, 395 S.C. 437, 718 S.E.2d 227 (Ct. App. 2011).

In finding the claimant’s carpal tunnel syndrome a repetitive trauma resulting in an injury by accident versus an occupational disease, the Pee v. AVM, Inc. Court cited the reasoning from other jurisdictions that held the claimant’s carpal tunnel was not caused by “an invasion of her body by

outside agent but by external traumatic forces.” Pee v. AVM, Inc., 352 S.C. 167, 573 S.E.2d 785 (2002) *affirming* Pee v. AVM, Inc., 344 S.C. 162, 169, 543 S.E.2d 232, 236 (2001).

The Supreme Court and Court of Appeals’ reasoning in Pee v. AVM, Inc. relies heavily on exposure to an outside source as the defining factor of an occupational disease. Id. at 169, 543 S.E.2d 236 (“the term exposure indicates a passive relationship between the worker and his work environment.”) (internal citations omitted). Following the Courts’ analysis in this case, the Claimant alleges that exposure to chemicals caused her to develop the disease occupational asthma. More specifically, Claimant alleges chemical fumes from cleaning products invaded her body affecting her lungs/respiratory system. Therefore, Claimant’s claim should be evaluated under the occupational disease statute, not the repetitive trauma statute.

II. THE APPELLATE PANEL ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FINDING CLAIMANT MET HER BURDEN OF PROOF UNDER 42-11-10, ET AL.

The Appellate panel erred as a matter of law in alternatively finding the Claimant sustained an occupational disease under S.C. Code Ann. Section 42-11-10. In addition to alleging an injury by accident and a repetitive trauma injury, Claimant alleged that she contracted occupational asthma as well as sustained injuries to her lungs, pulmonary system and autoimmune system as the result of her continued exposure to chemicals and toxins while employed as the deli manager for Piggly Wiggly. The Claimant averred she has been rendered permanently and totally disabled due to an occupational disease contracted during her employment with Piggly Wiggly.

An occupational disease is a disease arising out of and in the course of employment which is due to hazards in excess of those ordinarily incident to employment and is peculiar to the occupation in which the employee is engaged. Section 42-11-10(A). Muir v. CR Bard, Inc., 336 S.C. 266, 519 S.E.2d 583 (S.C. App. 1999). Moreover, a claimant must establish by a preponderance of the

evidence that the disease is caused by “a hazard recognized as peculiar to a particular trade, process, occupation or employment as a direct result of continuous exposure to the normal working conditions of that particular trade, process, occupation or employment.” (Id.) In short, a claimant must demonstrate that he or she was exposed to a greater risk by reason of his or her employment than the general public. Fox v. Newberry County Memorial Hosp., 316 SC 537, 451 S.E.2d 28 (S.C. App. 1994).

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