THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No.: 2017-002396
WCC File No.: 1408826

Gennette Sowell, Employee,Respondent,

v. |

Piggly Wiggly, Employer, and
Auto Owners Insurance, Inc., Carrier,Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

RECEIVED
APR 23 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Preston F. McDaniel
McDANIEL LAW FIRM
1315 Elmwood Avenue
Columbia, SC 29201
(803)771-7211

And

Gerald Malloy
MALLOY LAW FIRM
108 Cargill Way
Hartsville, SC 29551
(843)339-3000
Attorneys for the Respondent

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

In this case, the Commission reviewed the evidence and found it was more in the nature of a series of repetitive exposures in the workplace after a series of extreme exposures that lead to the development of the Claimant's occupational asthma. (Hearing Commissioner Order p. 46, Finding of Fact No. 47).

Further, repetitive trauma was specifically codified as a definition and as an injury under S.C. Code §42-1-172 in 2007 and since then, this Court has had numerous opportunities to review the definition of what constitutes the cumulative effect of, "repetitive traumatic events". The Commissioner under Finding of Fact No. 46 referred to those decisions from a factual standpoint in reaching her factual conclusion,

"The development of Ms. Sowell's repetitive trauma injury is very similar to the facts in Rhame v. Charleston County School District, 415 S.C. 162, 781 S.E.2d 151 (SC App. 2015) Cert. denied (2016) King v. International Knife, 395 S.C. 437, 718 S.E.2d 227 (S.C. App 2011) Cert. denied 2014 and Murphy v. Owens-Corning, 393 S.C. 77, 710 S.E.2d 454 (S.C. App.

2011)." (Hearing Commissioner's Order, p. 46).

The repetitive trauma statute simply does not refer to or add the words either internal or external forces or inhalation versus the necessity for a physical act.

Traumatic is defined in the dictionary as meaning, "injurious or physical injury". Ms. Sowell's condition resulted from a series of traumatic meaning, physical or injurious, inhalation exposures in her workplace. Her condition began with a series of massive injurious exposures which were not continuous but which occurred on a repetitive basis in the Spring of 2011 which triggered the start of and which made her more desensitized. Then due to repetitive exposures, not constant and continuous, but repetitive exposures in her workplace, she developed a higher and higher sensitivity and also developed a greater and more severe asthmatic condition. Further, the lack of any intent on behalf of the Legislature to limit the definition of repetitive trauma so as to exclude an absorption and/or inhalational-type injury and/or external versus an internal type injury is made clear by the wording under the limitation for filing a claim under S.C. Code §42-15-40 wherein that section provides that a claim must be filed within two (2) years of the, "last date of injurious exposure". Finally, the provisions of the Act are to be liberally construed in favor of benefits to the injured worker and the wording is to

be strictly construed leaving it to the Legislature to amend or to define any ambiguities. Cokley v. Robert Lee, Inc., supra and Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc., supra. The Commission appropriately found that Respondent's injury constituted a repetitive trauma injury under §42-1-172.

II. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR BY FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENT'S OCCUPATIONAL ASTHMA WOULD ALSO QUALIFY AS AN OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW.

Unless the Court finds that there is no substantial evidence to establish repetitive trauma and/or that the Claimant's injury as a matter of law does not constitute a repetitive trauma injury, the basis for the award, the Court need not reach this issue as it is a point which is not, "necessary to the decision of the appeal". SCACR, Rule 220(b). The Commission awarded this case as a repetitive exposure trauma injury resulting in her condition of occupational asthma under S.C. Code §42-1-172.

While awarding the claim on that basis, the Commission also found that the Claimant's condition of occupational asthma would qualify as an occupational disease under South Carolina law. All the elements of an occupational disease claim are addressed in Finding of Fact No. 47 in the hearing Commissioner's Order and the law in reference to an occupational disease claim is copiously set out under Conclusions of Law No. 1 in the hearing Commissioner's Order as affirmed by the Full Commission on

Appeal. (Hearing Commissioner's Order, pp. 46-48, Finding of Fact No. 47, p. 51, Conclusion of Law No. 1.) The recognizing body for purposes of satisfying the requirement of §42-11-10 that the disease is recognized as peculiar to the employment in order to qualify as an occupational disease, is the Workers' Compensation Commission. Fox v. Newberry Memorial Hospital, 316 S.C. 537, 457 S.E.2d 28, reversed in part, 319 S.C. 278, 461 S.E.2d 392 (1995); Mohasco Corporation, Dixiana Mill Division v. Rising (Mohasco II), 292 S.C. 489, 357 S.E.2d 456, (1987). All of the issues raised under this argument are manifestly without merit; SCACR, Rule 220(b)(2).

A/B. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR BY FINDING THAT THE RESPONDENT'S CONDITION ALSO CONSTITUTED AN OCCUPATIONAL DISEASE AND THAT HER CONDITION WAS DUE TO HAZARDS PECULIAR TO HER EMPLOYMENT.

Under South Carolina law, a disease that meets the definition or requirement of an occupational disease is compensable as an occupational disease regardless of the fact that it may also qualify as an injury by accident. The inquiry is not focused on whether the disease arose from a single accidental contact but whether the disease is succinctly associated with the employment. Fox v. Newberry County Memorial Hospital, supra. The occupational disease statute within the Workers' Compensation Act is satisfied where the Claimant is able to show simply that the employment increased the risk of

the disease. Pee v. AVM, Inc., 352 S.C. 167, 573 S.E.2d 785 (2002). See also: Muir v. C.R. Bard, Inc., 336 S.C. 266, 519 S.E.2d 583 (S.C. App. 1999). In reference to whether the exposure is peculiar to the employment, it is not whether or not the general public is exposed to a particular substance, chemical or toxin, the inquiry and essential issue is whether the employment increased that risk and increased that exposure level. In this case, the use of the chemicals and exposure to the molds, bacteria, fungi and other items identified by the doctors to which Ms. Sowell was exposed, and to which she was exposed on a daily, continual basis are peculiar to the food service industry. In the food service industry on a daily basis employees, Ms. Sowell in this case, are exposed to raw meats, poultry and fish blood and fluids and their associated molds, fungi and micro toxins and to raw vegetables and the fungi, molds and micro toxins prevalent in raw vegetables. The workers are also exposed to all of the oils and greases necessary for preparation of the raw products and turning them into cooked products. They are also exposed before, during and after the process and preparation to all of the cleaning products including degreasers on a continual basis throughout the day which is necessary to properly sanitize and clean the food production utensils and equipment. While the general public may use a product, they are not consistently, regularly and

continually exposed on a daily basis, as Ms. Sowell was in this case, to all of these cleaning/sanitizing and degreasing products and in addition and more importantly, to all of the other associated asthmagens, toxins and the sensitizers to which she was exposed in her occupation in the food production occupation.

Respondent will not bore the Court by reiterating the plethora of testimony from the various doctors stating the opinion that the Respondent's occupational asthma stemmed from her employment and exposures in her employment other than to quote the opinion of her treating pulmonologist, Dr. Angelo A. DeDios, M.D. who stated the opinion that the,

"triggering factor triggering her adult onset asthma, was her daily and repeated and unusual and extraordinary exposure during that two (2) to three (3) month period prior to June, 2011 to the deli waste water containing all the molds, fungus, bacteria, etc., involved in the preparation of meat, fish, poultry and vegetable products and the chemicals necessary to clean and sanitize that sewage water ..."

Dr. DeDios stated the further opinion that,

"where a person has developed or has the onset of asthma, thereafter if that person is continually exposed to the offending agent that triggered the condition that continual repeated exposure will cause an ever-increasing hypersensitivity and severity of their condition." (Claimant's APAs, p. 169(c)).

As to the opinions of Dr. Gordon Early, those are simply misstated by the Appellants. In his deposition, he specifically stated that the waste water is well known to be infected with

bacteria, molds and viruses. (Depo. p. 95, ll. 7 - 14). He then restated and reaffirmed his opinion that this was a case of occupational asthma. There was no qualification to that opinion and the only thing that he qualified was simply that by 2013 her immune system had been triggered and had been certainly stimulated and that due to her sensitivity and weakened immune system by that time other items such as allergies to pollen and dust mites may also be contributing to her condition. After that, he restated his opinion again, contrary to what the Appellants would want the Court to think, and stated to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that her immunologic trigger was her exposure at work, specifically in reference to her asthma. (Depo. p. 97, l. 25 - p. 99, l. 8). He specifically stated that the amount of immunologic trigger is less for someone who has severe asthma than it is for someone who has moderate or mild asthma. (Depo. p. 90, ll. 18 - 21).

The Commission appropriately noted that the claim was both compensable as a repetitive trauma injury and also as an occupational disease under the decisions of this Court and the Supreme Court but decided to award the claim as a repetitive exposure trauma injury.

Again, assuming that the Court agrees under the substantial evidence in the Record and as a matter of law that the Claimant sustained a repetitive trauma injury, all of the arguments under

Argument II are irrelevant and obiter dicta to the decision of the Commission awarding benefits and need not be addressed by the Court. Dent v. East Richland Public Service District, Opinion No. 5548 S.C. App. filed March 28, 2018), 2018 WL 1513963; King v. International Knife and Saw-Florence, supra. This issue is manifestly without merit. SCACR, Rule 220(b)(2).

C. RESPONDENT'S CLAIM IS NOT BARRED PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE §42-15-20 WHERE THE RESPONDENT NOTIFIED HER EMPLOYER WITHIN 90 DAYS OF A DEFINITIVE DIAGNOSIS OF OCCUPATIONAL ASTHMA.

The Respondent would ask the Court to note that while this Argument is made as a subsection under the arguments that the Respondent is not entitled to benefits on the basis of an occupational disease claim under S.C. Code §42-11-10, et. seq. the first line of this Argument II(C) states,

"section 42-15-20(C) provides that in the case of repetitive trauma, notice must be given by the employee within ninety days of the date the employee discovered or could have discovered by exercising reasonable diligence that his condition is compensable, unless reasonable excuse is made and the employer has not been unduly prejudiced." (Appellants Brief, p. 15).

Thus, the Argument is captioned under the notice standard applicable to an occupational disease claim of definitive diagnosis under §42-15-20 but the argument addresses whether or not the Claimant met the notice requirements under subsection (C) of the notice provision applicable to repetitive trauma injuries. For this reason alone, this Argument should not be

considered by the Court.

However, applying the notice standard in reference to a repetitive trauma injury, the Commission as the arbiter of the facts and the Commissioner in her Order as affirmed by the Full Commission under Finding of Fact No. 23 found that the first time the Respondent was made aware by her doctors that the doctors felt that her condition was, "work-related, and that she needed to come out of work and just see if that was what 'it was,'" was November 2013 (June Tr., pp. 59, 62, 77). At that time, she immediately, according to her testimony, "told" her employer/supervisor, Ms. Quick that her doctors felt that her condition, "may be" work related. In Finding of Fact No. 24, the Commissioner found the Respondent's testimony was credible. She found in Finding of Fact No. 25 that consistent with the Respondent's testimony that the Respondent did not know that her condition was definitively caused by her work at that time. Then in January of 2014, Dr. DeDios took her out of work and advised Ms. Sowell that if her work was exacerbating or causing her condition that her condition would improve. On February 9th, he recorded that her condition had improved and the first definitive diagnosis was on February 9, 2014. (Hearing Commissioner Order, pp. 38-39; Findings of Fact Nos. 23-28).

The visit with Dr. Rochelle Hammett was on November 21, 2013. (Claimant's APA, p. 8) and Dr. DeDios' opinion was on

February 4, 2014, (Cl. APA, p. 158 and 161) therefore, according to the Findings of Fact of the hearing Commissioner as affirmed by the Commission, the period between Dr. Hammett's visit when the Respondent could have discovered by the exercise of reasonable diligence that her condition was compensable (and assuming contrary to her testimony and the Commission findings, she did not tell Ms. Quick that day) and the date that she was actually definitively diagnosed on February 4, 2014 is a period of less than 90 days. In addition, the period between January 7th when Dr. DeDios indicated that her condition may be work related and that her being out of work would tell whether or not in his opinion it was, and March 25th the date a formal First Report of Injury was filed, is a period of less than ninety days. The Commission is the finder of fact and this is the Findings of Fact made by the Commission and substantial evidence supports the conclusion that the Respondent met her burden of proof in reference to the notice provisions under §42-15-20.

D. THE RESPONDENT'S ACTIONS IN CONTINUING TO WORK FROM 2011 THROUGH 2014 DO NOT CONSTITUTE A WILFUL INTENT TO INJURY UNDER THE ACT.

First, in reply, the Respondent would note that there is absolutely no evidence that this issue was submitted to either the hearing Commissioner or to the Full Commission on appeal for decision. Based on a review of the Defendants' Pre-Hearing Brief filed April 15, 2016, legal issues involved; Defendants'

Supplemental Pre-Hearing Brief filed June 13, 2016, legal issues involved; and the 66 Exceptions listed in the Full Commission Order that is a part of the Record, the Court will find there is no reference to S.C. Code §42-9-60 nor is an intent to injure referred to as having been presented as an issue to the Full Commission. (Def. PHB 4/15; Supp. PHB 6/13 and FC Order).

Further, the Respondent would ask the Court to note that this again is presented as a subsection to the occupational disease arguments under Argument II. Finally, this issue has not been preserved for argument; see: the Preservation of Issues section of this Brief.

S.C. Code §42-9-60 is a specific exception to the provision of workers' compensation benefits and must be narrowly construed under the guiding principles interpreting the Workers' Compensation Act. While our Supreme Court and this Court have both entered decisions interpreting the type of intent necessary to meet the exception created by §42-9-60, this Court and the Supreme Court have defined the term, "willful intention" under the Act as meaning a deliberate or formed intention to injure or kill oneself. Youman's v. Coastal Petroleum Company, 333 S.C. 195, 508 S.E.2d 43, (S.C. App. 1998) citing Reeves v. Carolina Foundry and Machine Works, 194 S.C. 403, 9 S.E.2d 919 (1940). Willful intention under that section of the Act which is an exception to awarding benefits means a deliberate, "formed"

intention to injure. There is absolutely no evidence in the Record either that Ms. Sowell intended to injure herself by continuing to work or that she was ever told that by continuing to work that it would result in total disability or any disability for that matter. As this Court has held, simply knowing that chemicals in the work environment should be avoided and/or that they were potentially related to the development of occupational asthma not only are not evidence of an intentional act but those facts are insufficient to even establish notice. See King v. International Knife and Saw - Florence, 395 S.C. 437, 718 S.E.2d 227 (S.C. App. 2011), reh. denied, cert denied, (Just knowing that the arm was tired, sore and achy for a couple of years was insufficient even to establish notice.). The issue is not only patently without merit, it was not raised nor decided by the Commission and is frivolous as there is no basis in law to make this Argument.

III. THE COMMISSION APPROPRIATELY AWARDED THE RESPONDENT TOTAL AND PERMANENT DISABILITY BENEFITS BASED ON THE UNCONTRADICTED MEDICAL AND LAY EVIDENCE CONCERNING THE RESPONDENT'S DISABILITY.

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